APPENDIX I   BUILDING MATERIAL ASSESSMENT








The building materials retreived during the demolition of the wood store and the subsequent excavations were examined using the London system of classification.  A fabric number is allocated to each object which specifies its composition, form, method of manufacture and approximate date range.  The implications the material has for the interpretation of the site will be discussed by phase, though time constraints preclude a detailed list of` the objects. 








Phase 2





In this phase building materials were present in contexts (30), (44), (104) and, (155). Context (30) contained 8 fragments of post-medieval peg tile (fabric 2276), dateable from 1480/1520 to 1900;  one pan tile fragment (fabric 2275, c.1666-c.1800) and two brick fragments (fabrics 3033 and 3065, 1450/1480-1900).  If the pan tile is not intrusive this layer post-dates c.1666.  Agricultural soil (104) contained some residual material including a Roman tegula tile and a medieval floor tile. 151 small fragments of medieval roof tile, weighing 3940g; 7 larger fragments of late medieval to early post-medieval peg tile, weighing 302g and 17 post medieval peg tile fragments weighing 700g were also present. The medieval tile fragments seem to have been present in the soil for longer than the later material, as they were smaller and more broken up, indicating the continued disturbance of the material, probably by agricultural activity. Context (155) contained 17 fragments of medieval roof tile (fabric 2271) and one dateable to the late medieval to early post-medieval period.  This phase of agricultural activity therefore extended into the latter period.








Phase 3





All the material in this phase is either medieval or undateable and is from the fill of beam slot and post-hole (152) and (150).  








Phase 4 





This phase contains much residual, redeposited medieval roof tile (of fabrics 2271, 2586, 3090, 3094 and 2816) and Tudor brick with a smaller quantity of material contemporary with this phase of activity. The number of different roof tile fabrics suggests either several medieval roofs and/or the maintenance of one medieval roof over a period of time.  The definitely contemporary material consists of purple brick (fabric 3032), one fragment of which is 65mm thick and is probably 18th century; orange floor tile (34mm thick and 242mm wide) and pan tile. The presence of either pan tile or purple brick in all the features containing building materials in this phase (except fill 147), which is stratigraphically later than (103) indicates that the phase dates from the c1666 at earliest, as these forms first appeared in the London area at that time.    


Phase 5





The house recorded as phase 5 was initially built with bricks of fabrics 3032 and 3033.  All the brick was unfrogged.  The purple brick (fabric 3032) was mostly 222-228mm long, 100-108mm wide and 62-67mm thick, though some was 213-218mm by 92-100mm and 62-65mm thick.  The orange brick of fabric 3033 was 221-228mm by 104-108mm and 62-66mm thick, had yellow surfaces and ranged in date from the late 18th to early 19th century.











Phase 6 





The repair to the floor of the building was conducted with a mixture of brick fabrics, though all the bricks were unfrogged. Yellow stock brick (fabric 3035) was observed. The purple brick of fabric 3032 was 222mmx103mmx64mm. Three complete orange bricks were kept. These had yellow surfaces, frequent inclusions, well defined corners and slightly indented borders. They were 226mmx102-103mmx64mm.  These bricks, like those in the main walls of the cottage of this type, are late 18th to early 19th century in date. However their uniformity of size, well defined borders, and more frequent inclusions indicate they they are later within this date range.





The building was roofed with pan tile at the time of demoltion.  Pan tile gradually went out of use as a roofing material after the introduction of cheap roofing slate in the 1760s,  and would probably not have been used in new roofs much after 1800. The roof extended to cover a later post-1850 addition to the building, which indicates that it was added during or after the extention. The pan tiles had various origins being of various sizes and fabrics and may have derived from the demolition of several structures in the vicinity. Of the four tiles retrieved four different styles of knib were represented and two different shapes. One tile had abundant calcium carbonate inclusions and was 353mm by 248mm and 13mm thick; two were of fabric 2275, one being 345mmx229mmx15mm with a grooved knib, the other being 367mmx248mmx12mm with a knib running almost the length of the tile; the other was of fabric 3094 and was 363mmx240mmx14mm.  The lack of a lining to the roof (an essential accesssory to a pan tile roof, which, though it uses fewer tiles than a peg tile roof, lets some rain water through) also indicates that the pan tiles were a later insertion by builders unfamiliar or unconcerned with the long term detrimental consequences to the building, of omiting a lining. The roof was rendered even less watertight by the use of different sized and shaped tiles. The presence of uniformly sized peg tiles, which were found loose in the chimney seems to indicate that this was the original roofing system used before the post-1850 extention of the building. These tiles (of fabric 2276) were 270-272mmx165-167mmx13-14mm.








Conclusions





A medieval building or buildings definitely stood in the area of the site as a greater quantity of medieval material was found than that of the later periods. This occupation extended into the late medieval to early post-medieval period. Maintenance of standing buildings or the construction of new buildings took place during the late 17th and/or18th century as is seen by the presence of modern building materials in the pitting of that period.





The late 18th century house was built with purple and orange bricks from more than one source and originally probably had a peg tile roof. The ground floor was rebuilt towards the end of that period. When the building was later extended it was re-roofed with a mixture of pan tiles derived from various old buildings in the area for aesthetic reasons rather than practical reasons, as it eventually led to the building’s deterioration.





Further examination of the floor tiles, the Roman tegula tile and the pan tiles (especially that containing an abundance of calcium carbonate which is new to North East London) may help to identify the fabrics in use in the area during the periods represented.





Fabrics





Brick





3033-This fabric represents soft orange brick, locally produced from local brickearths.


	It dates from 1450/1480 to the 20th century.


3065-This fabric is similar to 3033 except that it contains abundant quite coarse sand.


3032-This fabric represents hard purple brick which often has yellow surfaces. It has


	iron oxide inclusions and varying amounts of rubbish and voids left by the


	combustion of rubbish. It first appeared towards the end of the 17th century


	and extends into the 20th century.


3035-This fabric represents yellow London stock brick, which is hard and has many 


	inclusions.








Roof tile





2271-This fabric represents medieval orange peg or ridge roofing tile, with a scatter of


	sand and varying amounts of calcium carbonate. Its date range is 1150/1180 to 	approximately 1500. The tiles are laid on coarse moulding sand before firing.


2276-This is similar to 2271 except that it is laid on fine sand prior to firing and is of 	comparatively even thickness. It dates from 1480/1520 to c.1900.


2586-Medieval orangy red-light brown peg or ridge tile with frequent sand inclusions


	<0.5mm. It 	is laid on coarse moulding sand.


2816-Medieval orange-light brown peg or ridge tile with frequent fine sand inclusions


	some silt lensing and occasional red iron oxide.


3090-Medieval sandy peg and ridge tile with frequent fine black iron oxide.


3094-Sandy peg and pan tile with frequent very fine black iron oxide and some silt.


2275-Orange-brown pan tile with a scatter of sand, occasional iron oxide inclusions


	<1.5mm and occasional calcium carbonate. They first appeared in the London


	area 1620/1640s, but only came into widespread use c.1666.  They remained 	in use till the early 19th century, being superceded by roofing slate. 





Due to time constraints the floor tile could not properly be examined.
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